#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEFFREY G. HUTCHINS	ON,		
Appellant,			
v.		Case No.	SC01-500
STATE OF FLORIDA,			
Appellee.	/		
	/		

#### SECOND AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEPLER B. FUNK, ESQ.
JACK L. PLATT, ESQ.
KEITH F. SZACHACZ, ESQ.
PLATT, JACOBUS, FIELDING,
SZACHACZ, FUNK & TORRES, LLC
FL BAR NOS. 957781, 973866, 006270
1990 W. NEW HAVEN AVE. #201
MELBOURNE, FLORIDA 32904
(321) 953-5400

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

### **PAGE**

### **TABLE OF CITATIONS**

<u>Albernaz v. United States</u> , 450 U.S. 333 (1981)
Allison v. State, 661 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)
Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1984)
Anderson v. State, 276 So. 2d 17 (Fla.1973)
<u>Arbelaez v. State</u> , 626 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1993)
Barfield v. State, 613 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993)
Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980)
Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78 (1935)
Blanco v. State, 706 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1997)
Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932)
Boler v. State, 678 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1996)
Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387 (1977)
Brooks v. State, 787 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 2001)
Brown v. State, 787 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> 2001)
Brown v. State, 526 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1988)
Buenoano v. State, 527 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1988)
Buford v. State. 403 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1981)

Byrd v. State, 481 So. 2d 468 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Campbell v. State</u> , 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Clark v. State</u> , 443 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Clay v. State</u> , 424 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 3 <sup>rd</sup> DCA 1983)
<u>Coker v. Georgia</u> , 433 U.S. 584 (1977)
Colbert v. State, 569 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1990)
Cooper v. State, 492 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1986)
Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Davis v. State</u> , 663 So. 2d 1379 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1995 )
<u>De Angelo v. State</u> , 616 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1993)
<u>Donaldson v. State</u> , 722 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1998)
Dougan v. State, 470 So. 2d 697 (Fla.1985)
Douglas v. State, 575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991)
Downs v. State, 574 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1991)
Duckett v. State, 686 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1996)

<u>Duncan v. State</u> , 619 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1993)
<u>Dunsizer v. State</u> , 746 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> 1999)
<u>Farinas v. State</u> , 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Febre v. State</u> , 30 So. 2d 367 (Fla. 1947)
<u>Fecske v. State</u> , 757 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 2000)
<u>Fenelon v. State</u> , 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992)
<u>Ferrell v. State</u> , 686 So. 2d 1324 (1996)
<u>Fisher v. State</u> , 715 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1998)
Fleming v. State, 457 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1984)
<u>Forehand v. State</u> , 171 So. 241 (Fla. 1936)
<u>Fotopoulos v. State</u> , 608 So. 2d 784 (Fla. 1992)
Garcia v. State, 492 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1986)
Gomez v. State, 672 So. 2d 869 (Fla. 3 <sup>rd</sup> DCA 1996)
Gore v. State, 719 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1998)
<u>Gray v. State</u> , 652 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995)

Grinage v. State, 641 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1994)
<u>Hamilton v. State</u> , 678 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 1996)
<u>Hansbrough v. State</u> , 509 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1987)
<u>Hardwick v. State</u> , 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Hasty v. State</u> , 120 Fla. 269, 162 So. 910 (1935)
<u>Henyard v. State</u> , 689 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1997)
<u>Hermanson v. State</u> , 570 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
<u>Herzog v. State</u> , 439 2d 1372 (Fla. 1983)
<u>Hines v. State</u> , 227 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 1969)
<u>Hodges v. State</u> , 525 So. 2d 929 (Fla.)
<u>Hudson v. State</u> , 538 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Irizarry v. State</u> , 496 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 1986)
<u>Irvin v. Dowd</u> , 366 U.S. 717 (1961)
<u>Jackson v. State</u> , 498 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1986)
<u>James v. State</u> , 695 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1997)

<u>Jones v. State</u> , 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Kearse v. State</u> , 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995)
<u>Kelley v. State</u> , 543 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)
<u>Kilgore v. State</u> , 688 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1996) 61
<u>Kirby v. State</u> , 625 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 3 <sup>rd</sup> DCA 1993)
<u>Kirkland v. State</u> , 684 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1996)
Klokoc v. State, 589 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1991)
Knight v. State, 672 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> 1992)
Knowles v. State, 632 So. 2d 62 (Fla. 1993) 51,52,53,54,66,75,95
<u>Kramer v. State</u> , 619 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1993)
<u>Larry v. State</u> , 104 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1958)
<u>Lemon v. State</u> , 456 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Lewis v. State</u> , 377 So. 2d 640 (Fla.1979)
Lithgow Funeral Centers v. Loftin, 60 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 1952) 20

<u>Littles v. State</u> , 384 So. 2d 744 (Fla.1st DCA 1980)
<u>Livingston v. State</u> , 682 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1996)
<u>Lopez v. State</u> , 716 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)
<u>Lukehart v. State</u> , 776 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 2000)
Maldonado v. State, 697 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1997)
Mapps v. State, 520 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)
May v. State, 600 So. 2d 1266 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1992)
McDaniel v. State, 566 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)
McKinney v. State, 640 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)
<u>Payne v. Tennessee</u> , 501 U.S. 808 (1991)
People v. Ireland, 70 Cal. 2d 522, 75 Cal. Rptr. 188, 450 P. 2d 580 (1969) 69
<u>Pittman v. State</u> , 646 So. 2d 167, (Fla. 1994)

Polk v. State, 179 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965)
Porter v. State, 564 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 1990) 67,93
<u>Preston v. State</u> , 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992)
<u>Purkhiser v. State</u> , 210 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1968)
Ramirez v. State, 739 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 1999)
Raupp v. State, 678 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1996)
Richardson v. State, 604 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1992) 67,84
Rivera v. State, 718 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1998)
Robinson v. State, 589 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)
Robles v. State, 188 So. 2d 789 (Fla. 1966)
Rogers v. State, 660 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1995)
Roman v. State, 475 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 1985)
Rose v. State, 787 So. 2d 786 (Fla. 2001)
<u>Ruiz v. State</u> , 743 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1999)
<u>Sandoval v. State</u> , 689 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 3 <sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997)

<u>Santos v. State</u> , 629 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1994)
<u>Scull v. State</u> , 533 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Sireci v. State</u> , 399 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Small v. State</u> , 667 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)
<u>Smalley v. State</u> , 546 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Spencer v. State</u> , 691 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 1997)
<u>State v. DeSantiago</u> , 791 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 2001)
<u>State v. DiGuilio</u> , 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)
State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
<u>State v. Enmund</u> , 476 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1985)
<u>State v. Grinage</u> , 656 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1995)
<u>State v. Hoggins</u> , 718 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1998)
<u>State v. Jano</u> , 524 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1988)
<u>State v. Jones</u> , 896 P.2d 1077 (Kan. 1995)
State v. Kinchen, 490 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1985)

State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989)
Stoll v. State, 762 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 2000)
Superior Industries Intern. v. Faulk, 695 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> 1997) 36
<u>Tien Wang v. State</u> , 426 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 3 <sup>rd</sup> DCA 1983) 50
<u>Tilman v. State</u> , 591 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1991)
<u>Torres-Arboledo v. State</u> , 524 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 1988)
Webb v. State, 519 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1988)
Welty v. State, 402 So. 2d 1159 (Fla.1981)
Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684 (1980)
White v. State, 757 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)
Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1994)
Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1991)
Williams v. New York, 337 U.S. 241 (1949)
Williams v. State, 747 So. 2d 474 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1999)
Williams v. State, 714 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1998)

### TABLE OF CITATIONS

(Continued)

Williams v. State, 574 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1991)
Wilson v. State, 436 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1983)
Windom v. State, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1995) 62,63,65
Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1998)
Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862 (1983)
Zeigler v. State, 580 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1991)

### **TABLE OF CITATIONS**

(Continued)

## CONSTITUTIONS AND STATUTES PAGE(S)

United States Constitution
Amendment V       42,43,45,47         Amendment VIII       65
Florida Statutes (2001)
Section 794.011
Florida Statutes (2000 Supp.)
Section 782.051
Section 921.141 3,60,61,62,63,65,68,78
Florida Statutes (1998 Supp.)
Section 90.803(2)
Section 775.021 71,72
Section 782.04
Section 812.022(3)
Section 827.03
Florida Statutes (1995)
Section 775.021(4)
OTHER SOURCES
Ehrhardt, Charles
Florida Evidence, 2001 edition
Gobert, James R. & Walter E. Jordan,
Jury Selection: The Law, Art, and Science of Selecting a Jury
8 (2d ad 1990) 56

LaFave and Scott, 2 Substantive Criminal Law	69,70
Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 9.210(a)(2)	99
Florida Standard Jury Instructions (Criminal) 2.04(d)	45

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Jeffrey Glen Hutchinson, was the defendant below and will be referred to in this brief as either "defendant," "appellant," or by his proper name. The State was the prosecuting authority below and will be referred to as "the State."

References to the record on appeal will be by volume number followed by "R" and that will be followed by the page number, both in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Okaloosa County on October 5, 1998 charged the Appellant, Jeffrey Hutchinson, with four counts of first-degree premeditated murder. Those allegations also claimed he committed each murder using a shotgun and during the course of aggravated child abuse (1 R 24-26). The State filed a notice that it intended to seek the death penalty (1R 29), and it or the defendant then filed several notices or motions relevant to this appeal:

- 1. Motion for medical testing, alleging Hutchinson suffers from Gulf War Syndrome (1 R 54). Granted (1 R 71) . Notice of intent to present expert testimony of mental mitigation (12 R 2254).
  - 2. Amended Notice of Intent to Rely upon Insanity Defense (4 R 700).

- 3. Motions by the State and defense for the appointment of specified mental health experts (4 R 703-707). Granted (10 R 1874). Hutchinson would also ask the court to appoint a confidential mental health expert (6 R 1115), which it apparently did (1 R 54)
- 4. Notice of Intent to Revoke Notice of Intent to Rely upon Defense of Insanity (4 R 711, 10 R 1844).
- 5. Motions to suppress an audio "911" tape that allegedly had recorded the defendant's call to the police (5 R 848, 10 R 1825). Denied (15 R 2897).
- 6. Motion for an individual, sequestered voir dire of the prospective jurors (6 R 1080). Granted in part (15 R 2811).
- 7. Motion to preclude first degree felony murder theory of prosecution (6 R 1090). Denied (15 R 2844).
- 8. A pro-se motion to recuse Judge Robert Baron from presiding over Hutchinson's case (7 R 1279). Denied (17 R 3288-89).
- 9. Two motions in limine to prevent introduction of pictures of the victims (7 R 1293, 1306). Ruling postponed until trial and then generally denied (14 R 1068).
- 10. A motion filed by the State to determine the defendant's sanity at the time of the offenses and his competency to stand trial (7 R 1310). Granted (7 R 1303).

- 11. Notice of Intent to Present Expert Testimony of Mental Mitigation (7 R1334). Filed by Hutchinson.
- 12. Motion to suppress statements made by the defendant to the police (7 R 1346). Denied in part (18 R 3508-3509, 3511, 3533).
- 13. Motions to declare Section 921.141(5)(m), Florida Statutes (2000 Supp.), as either unconstitutional or inapplicable to this case (12 R 2216, 2227). Denied (5 R 969).
  - 14. Notice of defendant's waiver of penalty phase trial (13 R 2408).

During the pre-trial proceedings, Hutchinson asked to represent himself (10 R 1860), but he later withdrew that request (10 R 1862, 1870).

The case proceeded to trial before Judge Robert Baron, and the defendant was found guilty as charged (23 R 2383-84). He waived having the jury make a sentencing recommendation (13 R 2408), but both he and the State presented their evidence supporting various mitigating and aggravating factors. The court found the same mitigation for each murder, but was more selective about the aggravating factors applicable to the various victims.

- 1. As to Renee Flaherty, the court found only that the defendant was previously convicted of the three contemporaneous murders. (14 R 2704)
  - 2. As to Geoffrey Flaherty:

- a. The defendant was previously convicted of the three contemporaneous murders.
- b. The murder was committed during the course of aggravated child abuse and upon a person less than 12 years old. These two aggravators were merged.
- c. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel(14 R 2705-2706).
  - 3. As to Amanda and Logan Flaherty:
- a. The defendant was previously convicted of the three contemporaneous murders.
- b. The murder was committed during the course of aggravated child abuse and upon a person less than 12 years old. These two aggravators were merged. (14 R 2707-2708)

The court found the following mitigation and gave it significant weight:

- 1. Hutchinson has no significant history of prior criminal activity.
- 2. Hutchinson was a decorated military veteran of the Gulf War.

The court found the following mitigation and gave it some, slight, little, or minimal weight:

1. Hutchinson was security officer of the month, quarter and year with the Spokane Security Police at Deaconess Hospital.

- 2. He served in the army for eight years and received a General Discharge under Honorable Conditions.
- 3. He has a 15-year-old son whom he has supported financially and emotionally.
  - 4. He has the potential for rehabilitation and productivity while in prison.
  - 5. He has been diagnosed with Gulf War Syndrome.
  - 6. He has been diagnosed with a form of Attention Deficit Disorder.
  - 7. He has never abused illegal drugs.
  - 8. He has provided emotional and financial support to his family.
  - 9. He has the ability to show compassion.
  - 10 He is a high school graduate.
  - 11. He was active in disseminating information about gulf War Syndrome.
  - 12. He has a worked from 1984-1998.
  - 13. He has demonstrated his religious faith while in jail.
  - 14. His large family supports him.
  - 15. He is a skilled motorcycle mechanic.
- 16. He has designed improvements to motorcycles and has sought patents for those designs.
  - 17. He was under stress immediately after the murders.

- 18. Friends in the United States and abroad have given him moral support.
- 19. He was using alcohol at the time of the offense.

(14 R 2708-2714)

The court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating factors, imposed the following sentences: 1. Life for the murder of Rene Flaherty. 2. Death for the murders of Geoffrey, Amanda, and Logan Flaherty. The life sentence is to run consecutive to the death sentences, which are to be served concurrently with each other (14 R 2714).

The State has filed a notice of Cross-appeal questioning the court's willingness to merge the aggravated child abuse aggravator with the victim was a minor aggravator (14 R 2762).

This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

By September 11, 1998, Jeffrey Hutchinson had been living with his girl friend, Renee Flaherty, and her three children, Geoffrey, 9, Amanda, 7, and Logan, 4 for about 18 months (24 R 1087, 1153). By all accounts the couple had a good relationship, and friends noted that the defendant treated the children as if they were his (24 R 1154-56). Nothing seemed unusual, and indeed, Jeffrey, Renee, and the kids had planned to get together with some friends that night, but one of the latter became sick, and the evening's outing was postponed (22 R 722).

Nevertheless, about seven or eight o'clock that evening, the couple had an argument serious enough for Renee to call a friend in Washington state and through her tears tell her that "she and Jeff were splitting." (24 R 1030) For his part, Hutchinson left the house, got in his truck, and drove to a nearby bar and ordered a couple of beers (23 R 842-43, 845-46). He drank one, and had finished part of the second when he left very upset and appearing disoriented (23 R 849). Before getting into his truck, he brushed past another patron of the bar muttering to himself (23 R 897).

As he left the parking lot, he gunned the engine so that the tires spun throwing dirt and gravel behind (23 R 484). He roared down the road, driving crazily (23 R 975). His truck swerved off the left side of the road, almost hit another car, jumped a gully, traveled up an embankment, and hit a sign, knocking it down (23 R 902 936, 939-43).

One of the vehicle's tires blew, but he drove with a flat tire (23 R 965). During the trip toward his house, he stopped for ten or fifteen seconds then took off again (23 R 959).

A few minutes later someone who was later identified as Hutchinson (24 ® 1148) called the 911 operator and said he had just shot his family (22 R 687-90). But when asked how many people were there, he did not know. Nor did he know how many had been hurt or how they had been injured (22 R 688-92). He also said "There were some guys here … Those fucking bastards." (22 R 692-93).

The police responded, and when they arrived they found the defendant laying face down in the garage with a portable telephone by his head, still connected to the 911 operator (21 R 599, 22 R 630, 694, 769, 775). He appeared to be unconscious and was unresponsive to the officers (21 R 600, 22 R 773, 23 R 818). When they went inside the house they found the bodies of Renee and two of the children in the master bedroom and the body of Geoffrey in the living room (24 R 1094). Each had been shot once in the head with a shotgun (22 R 607-608, 23 R 812, 24 R 1045-46). Geoffrey's body was found in the living room, and he had two fatal wounds (24 R 1044). None of them had any other injuries (24 R 1062-63). A shotgun was found on a kitchen counter (22 R 607).

As mentioned, the police found Hutchinson in the garage. They handcuffed him and half drug, half carried him to a police car (22 R 797, 24 R 1168). He did not say

anything then, but only grunted (24 R 1173). At the police station, he would eventually talk with the police until he invoked his right to remain silent (18 R 3533). The police ignored that claim and continued to question him. As he first indicated when he called the 911 operator, two men came into his house. He struggled with them, but they shot Renee and the children and fled (22 R 707).

At the time of the homicides, Hutchinson was 38-years-old and was living with Renee Flaherty and her children. By all accounts he and Renee got along well, and he treated the children as his own (24 R 1155-56).

Hutchinson had, as far as the evidence showed, a normal childhood with one exception. His mother and father and brothers ands sisters all loved him and testified in glowing terms about the defendant (30 R 2402-2403, 2434, 2453-55). The only problem he had growing up was that he suffered from Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, for which he took the drug Ritalin (30 R 2422). That calmed him down (30 R 2422).

After graduating from high school, he worked as a security guard, and was so good that he received special commendations and was recognized as the employee of the quarter and year (30 R 2404, 2418 See, Defense Exhibit M). He enjoyed motorcycle racing and had trophies for several races he had either won or placed (30

R 2417). Beyond purely the competition, he also was an excellent and clever mechanic (30 R 2444).

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