## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## JEFFREY G. HUTCHINSON,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC01-500

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY GIVING A SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTION ON PREMEDITATION? (Restated)

Appellant asserts that the special jury instruction regarding premeditation amounted to an improper judicial comment on the evidence. First, this issue is not preserved. Appellant objected to the special jury instruction but did not state any basis for the objection. The special jury instruction was a correct statement of the law. Furthermore, special jury instructions are jury instructions, not comments on the evidence. Comments on the evidence occur when a judge comments upon the weight of the evidence, the credibility of the

witnesses, or the guilt of the accused. Jury instructions are guidance on the law, not comments on the facts or testimony. The special jury instruction merely informed the jury of permissible factors, such as the nature of the weapon and the wounds, to consider in determining whether premeditation exists. Thus, the special jury instruction was not a judicial comment on the evidence.

### The trial court's ruling

Prior to defense resting its case, the prosecutor mentioned to the trial court that he was going to request a special jury instruction on premeditation that the trial court had given in the past. (XXIX 2020-2021). The trial court held a jury instruction conference. (XXIX 2111). During the conference, the prosecutor referred to a special jury instruction premeditation. (XXIX 2121,2129). The prosecutor submitted a separate written request for the special jury instruction as requested by the trial court. (XII 2382). Defense counsel objected but did not state any basis. (XXIX 2130,2163). trial court granted the state's request for the special jury instruction because it was an "appropriate instruction in accordance with Florida law." (XXIX 2131). The trial court instructed the jury.(XXX 2271). The trial court gave the standard jury instruction on premeditation. (XXX 2274-2275). The trial court then gave the following special jury instruction:

You may consider the nature of the weapon used, the manner in which the homicide was committed, and the nature and

manner of the wounds inflicted upon the victim in determining whether the crime was premeditated. (XXX 2275).

## **Preservation**

This issue is not preserved. While defense counsel objected to the giving of the special instruction on premeditation he did not object to the instruction on the basis that the instruction amounted to a comment on the evidence. Indeed, counsel stated no basis for his objection. Fla.R.Crim.Pro. 3.390(d)(providing that a "party may raise on appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of the objection). A general objection without any basis is not sufficient to preserve an issue for appeal. Thus, this issue is not preserved.

## The standard of review

There are two standards of review involved with special jury instructions. First, the question of whether the special jury instruction is a correct statement of the law is a pure question of law reviewed de novo. However, once it is determined that the jury instruction is an accurate statement of the law, it is

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Jennings v. State, 782 So.2d 853, 862 (Fla. 2001)(noting that the objection to the CCP jury instruction was not preserved because the defendant failed to specifically argue that the instruction was unconstitutionally vague in the trial court); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 98-99 (Fla. 1996)(holding constitutional vague challenge to jury instructions on aggravators procedurally barred because counsel failed to object with specificity).

within the trial court's discretion whether or not to give a special instruction. 11

## Merits

The summing up and comment by judge statute, § 90.106, Florida Statutes, (1998), provides:

A judge may not sum up the evidence or comment to the jury upon the weight of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses, or the guilt of the accused. 12

<sup>11</sup> United States v. Nolan, 223 F.3d 1311, 1313 (11th Cir. 2000) (reviewing de novo whether the jury instructions misstated the law but reviewing for abuse of discretion a refusal to give a requested jury instruction); United States v. Beers, 189 F.3d 1297, 1300 (10th Cir. 1999) (reviewing a district court's decision whether or not to give a particular instruction for an abuse of discretion but conducting de novo review to determine whether the instruction correctly stated the law); Darling v. State, 808 So.2d 145, 160 (Fla. 2002) (concluding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to give a requested special jury instruction regarding circumstantial evidence); Card v. State, 803 So.2d 613, 624 (Fla. 2001) (stating that the decision on whether to give a particular jury instruction is within the trial court's discretion).

While the law revision council notes in the statutes annotated aver that this statute is a codification of the holding in Seward v. State, 59 So.2d 529 (Fla.1952), is this not A version of this statute existed prior to 1952. accurate. Indeed, Florida has had statutes prohibiting judges from commenting on the facts of a case since March 2, 1877. Chapter 2096, § 1, Acts 1877, providing: "[u]pon the trial of all common law and criminal cases . . ., it shall be the duty of the Judge presiding on such trial to charge the jury only upon the law of the case); Revised Statutes of 1892 § 1088, charge to the jury in civil case section, the duty of judge to charge jury statute, providing: "the judge presiding on such trial shall charge the jury only upon the law of the case"; Revised Statutes of 1892 § 2920 charge of the court statute, providing: "the rules of law relative to instruction and the charge of the court in civil cases shall obtain in all criminal case. . . "; Compiled General Laws of Florida of 1927 § 4363 (2696) Charge to jury in civil and criminal cases section, the judge to charge jury on law of case statute, providing "the judge presiding on such trial shall charge the jury only upon the law of the case . . . " See also

Garner v. State, 9 So. 835, 843 (Fla. 1891) (noting the statutory basis for the rule in Florida prohibiting comments by the judge); Keigans v. State, 41 So. 886 (Fla. 1906) (reversing a murder conviction where the judge commented on the defendant's testimony regarding the interest the defendant "necessarily must have in the result of the trial" and noting that while other states permit such comments they do not have a statute limiting the presiding judge to charges "only upon the law of the case" as Florida does); see also Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, § 106.1 at 38 (2000 ed.) (noting that the federal rules of evidence do not prohibit such comments and that, at common law, a judge was permitted to comment on the evidence). Some states allow judicial comments on the evidence. Cal. Const. art. VI, § 10 (providing that the court may make such comment on the evidence and the testimony and credibility of any witness as, in its opinion, is necessary for the proper determination of the v. Rodriguez, 726 P.2d 113, cause); People (1986)(holding judge's comment on a witness' testimony to a deadlocked jury was within court's constitutional power and while a trial court's comment should be accurate, temperate, and fair, they need not be neutral, bland, or colorless summaries).

While Florida has a statute forbidding judicial comments, it is not a constitutional issue. *Quercia v. United States*, 289

Keigans v. State, 41 So. 886, 890 (Fla. 1906) (Shackleford, C.J., dissenting) (giving legislative history of statute prohibiting judges from commenting on the evidence and limiting comments to the law.). The basis of this statute is a prior statute, not caselaw.

U.S. 466, 77 L.Ed. 1321, 53 S.Ct. 698 (1933) (noting that, in a jury trial, a federal judge, as trial judges did at common law, may express his opinion upon the facts, provided he makes it clear to the jury that all matters of fact are for their determination). Comments by the judge do not violate the right to a jury trial or due process. Indeed, in a criminal case, while "ill advised", it is not even per se reversible error for a trial judge to express his personal opinion of the defendant's guilt. United States v. Fuller, 162 F.3d 256 (4th Cir. 1998)(holding that the trial judge's statement that: "from my own personal view I do not credit and accept the defendant's testimony . . . that he had no intent to violate the federal drug laws"; rather, "I believe he was acting illegally as a drug dealer" but emphasizing that jury was not required to accept the judge's view; rather, it was "entirely up to you and you alone to make your determination of what the evidence establishes" was not per se error because the undisputed facts amounted to the commission of the crime but disapproving the practice citing United States v. Murdock, 290 U.S. 389, 394, 54 S.Ct. 223, 78 L.Ed. 381 (1933)). But even a judge commenting on a defendant's quilt is not a constitutional issue. Davis v. Craven, 485 F.2d 1140 (9th Cir.1973)(en banc)(declining 1138, to constitutionalize Murdock).

At common law, and to this day in federal courts, judges were permitted to sum up evidence and comment on weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. Renee Lettow Lerner, The Transformation of the American Civil Trial: The

Silent Judge, 42 WM. & MARY L. REV 195 (2000)(giving as an example of a true comment on the evidence a comment; explaining that the practice of judicial comments on the evidence has deep roots in our legal traditions and was widely employed in early America where a jury often would discuss with the judge their doubts about the facts and the weight of different pieces of evidence; and noting that many commentators have expressed great concern over the curtailment of the judge's power to give such advice).

Here, however, the judge did not comment on the evidence. The trial court did not state his opinion regarding premeditation or express any thoughts about how the weapon demonstrated appellant's premeditation; rather, the trial court merely instructed the jury. Special instructions are jury instructions, not comments on the evidence. A jury instruction is a statement of the law, not a comment on the facts of the A comment on the evidence, as the statute explains, involves summing up the evidence like a prosecutor does or commenting to the jury upon the weight of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses, or the guilt of the accused. Courts sometimes confuse erroneous jury instructions with the

concept of comments on the evidence. <sup>13</sup> A permissive jury instruction is never a comment on the evidence.

In *Kearse v. State*, 662 So.2d 677 (Fla. 1995), this Court held that a special jury instruction defining premeditation was proper. The trial court gave a special instruction on premeditation which provided:

Among the ways that premeditation may be inferred is from evidence as to the nature of the weapon used, the manner in which the murder was committed and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted.

Kearse contended that this instruction constituted an improper comment on the evidence. *Kearse*, 662 So.2d at 681. This Court rejected that contention, reasoning that although the added language is not part of the standard jury instruction, it is an accurate statement of the law regarding premeditation. *Id*.

Baldwin v. State, 46 Fla. 115, 35 So. 220, (1903)(finding that two requested instructions invade the province of the jury, single out and emphasize specific parts of the testimony to be considered without reference to the other parts, and are arguments to be addressed to the jury by counsel, rather than the law of the case to be given by the court); Whitfield v. State, 452 So.2d 548 (Fla.1984) (holding that a jury instruction stating that the jury could infer guilt from the defendant's refusal to submit to fingerprinting constitutes an impermissible comment on the evidence); Fenelon v. State, 594 So. 2d 292, 294 (Fla. 1992) (stating that there is no valid policy reason why a trial judge should be permitted to comment on evidence of flight as opposed to any other evidence adduced at 780 So.2d 324 trial; Weddell v. State, (Fla. 2001)(certifying as a matter of great public importance whether the standard jury instruction on possession of property recently stolen is an impermissible comment on the evidence); Fecske v. State, 757 So.2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 776 So.2d 275 (Fla. 2000)(holding a special jury instruction that lack of affirmative medical treatment did not relieve defendant of criminal responsibility for victim's death was an improper comment on the evidence).

citing Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964, 967 (Fla.1981).

Accordingly, this Court held that the special jury instruction on premeditation was not error.

The complained of special instruction in this case is the same as the special instruction in Kearse. Here, as in Kearse, the special jury instruction is an accurate statement of the law. This Court has repeatedly said premeditation may be inferred from the nature of the weapon used, the presence or absence of adequate provocation, previous difficulties between the parties, the manner in which the homicide was committed, and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted. Perry v. State, 801 So.2d 78, 84 (Fla. 2001); Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284, (Fla.1990)(quoting Larry v. State, 104 So.2d 352, 354 State, 619 So.2d (Fla.1958); Sochor v. 285, 288 (Fla.1993)(quoting Larry v. State, 104 So.2d 352, 354 (Fla.1958)). How can it be error for the trial court to instruct the jury to consider the exact same factors that this Court considers when it determines whether premeditation exists? Thus, the special jury instruction on premeditation is an accurate statement of the law and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving the special jury instruction. permissive jury instruction is commenting on the evidence, then all jury instructions are improper comments on the evidence. CHARLES W. EHRHARDT, FLORIDA EVIDENCE, § 106.1 at 37 n.1 (2000)(noting the contradiction in Florida caselaw where sometimes a jury instruction is viewed as a comment on the evidence but at other

times, "seemingly similar instructions are determined not to be a comment on the evidence").

## Harmless Error

Regardless of the special jury instruction, the jury would have concluded that these murders were premeditated. Quintana v. State, 452 So.2d 98, 101 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)(stating that judicial comments, which either directly or indirectly, convey to the jury the judge's view of the case or the evidence, may simply be harmless). Appellant contends that the harm was the affect of the special jury instruction on his intoxication defense. However, this special jury instruction did not, in any manner, undermine that defense. The special instruction did not say anything about the intoxication defense. The jury was still free to find that appellant was too intoxicated to form the requisite intent for first degree murder. Hence, any error was harmless.

## ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY RELATING THE VICTIM'S STATEMENT IN A TELEPHONE CALL? (Restated)

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